1994

John Diston v. Enviropak Medical Products Inc., a Utah corporation, et al. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Utah Supreme Court had jurisdiction of this appeal pursuant to UTAH CODE ANN. § 78-2-2(3)(j). This appeal was poured over to the Court of Appeals on February 2, 1994, under UTAH CODE ANN. § 78-2a-3(2)(k).

ISSUES PRESENTED AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

Issue: Whether the trial court erred in concluding that the document entitled "Letter of Intent to Enter Employment Agreement" constituted a contract of employment between appellant EnviroPak Medical Products, Inc. ("EnviroPak") and appellee John Diston.

Standard of Review: Correction of error. *Buehner Block Co. v. U.W.C. Associates*, 752 P.2d 892 (Utah 1988); *Mountain Fuel Supply Co. v. Salt Lake City Corp.*, 752 P.2d 884 (Utah 1988).

Issue: Whether the trial court erred in concluding that Frederick Ninow had apparent authority to hire Diston as an employee of EnviroPak.

Standard of Review: Correction of error. *Mountain Fuel Supply Co.*, 752 P.2d 884.

DETERMINATIVE STATUTES

The only determinative statute in this matter is the statute of frauds. That provision provides in relevant part as follows:

The following agreements are void unless the agreement, or some note or memorandum of the agreement, is in writing, signed by the party to be charged with the agreement:

(1) every agreement that by its terms is not to be performed within one year from the making of the agreement . . .

UTAH CODE ANN. § 25-5-4(1).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case: This is an action by plaintiff/appellee John Diston ("Diston") alleging breach of an employment contract between Diston and defendant/appellant EnviroPak Medical Products, Inc. ("EnviroPak"). Diston asserted that a document titled "Letter of Intent to Enter Employment Agreement" ("letter of intent") constituted a binding contract and that EnviroPak had breached the contract by refusing to employ him in accordance with the terms of the letter of intent. EnviroPak denied that the letter of intent was a binding contract and further denied that Frederick Ninow, who signed the letter of intent had authority to do so on behalf of EnviroPak. Diston further claimed that defendant/appellant Surgical Technologies, Inc. ("Surgical") was liable as the alter ego of EnviroPak.

Course of Proceedings and Disposition Below: The complaint was filed on April 21, 1992 and included claims for breach of contract, including a separate third-party beneficiary claim, intentional interference with economic relations and fraud. Appellants brought a motion for summary judgment on May 26, 1993. The trial court granted that motion as to the claims for third-party beneficiary rights and fraud. The remaining claims were tried on July 19 and 20, 1993. The trial court entered findings of fact and conclusions of law on November 16, 1993, and the judgment was entered on November 18, 1993. The trial court awarded Diston a judgment in the amount of \$54,834.60 against both EnviroPak and Surgical. Appellants filed a notice of appeal on December 9, 1993. The appeal was poured over from the Supreme Court on February 2, 1994.

STATEMENT OF FACTS¹

In 1991, plaintiff/appellee John Diston (Diston) was employed as the assistant director of peri-operative services at Holy Cross Hospital where he was paid a yearly salary of \$40,000. (R. 00624, FF 5.) He did not receive the use of a car (or a car allowance), stock options or bonuses as part of his compensation. (R. 00624-25.) At the same time, Frederick P. Ninow (Ninow) was employed by a company called Professional Medical in the area of marketing. (R. 00734, FF 6.) During his employment with Professional Medical, Ninow began planning for Professional Medical's possible manufacture and marketing of a new product line, consisting of pre-packaged, reusable surgical gowns and equipment. (R. 00736-37, FF 7.)

Ninow became acquainted with Diston as a result of Ninow's efforts to promote the new products. (R. 00734-35, 36, FF 8.) Ninow's efforts were aimed at having Professional Medical produce and market the new products. (R. 00737.) Diston arranged for the products to be tested at Holy Cross Hospital. (R. 00583.) As their relationship developed, Ninow suggested the possibility of Diston coming to work for Professional Medical, and Diston eventually met with another representative of Professional Medical, although employment discussions went no further. (R. 00739, 00626.) Professional Medical began marketing the products to Holy Cross Hospital but was unable to undertake large-scale production or marketing. (R. 00740-41.)

Ninow and Diston began planning for the formation of a new company to market the products on a large scale. (R. 00741, FF 9.) Ninow, Diston and others participated in preparing a business plan for the new company. (R. 00742, FF 9-11.) The plan included a list of names and corresponding positions within the proposed company. (R. 00627, 00587-89, 0592-95.) Ninow and Diston met several times throughout the spring and fall of 1991 to discuss formation

¹ Citations to the findings of fact are abbreviated FF, followed by the paragraph number. The findings of fact and conclusions of law are found at pages 00516 through 00527 of the record and are attached as appendix 2.

of the new company and Diston's involvement and eventual employment. (R. 00593.) All of this activity occurred prior to any contact with Surgical. (R. 00025-27.)

Ninow was unable to arrange funding for his own company. In the summer of 1991, Ninow was introduced to the principals of Surgical. (R. 00745, FF 12.) After a period of negotiation, Ninow and Surgical agreed to form EnviroPak as a wholly owned subsidiary of Surgical for purposes of manufacturing and marketing the products. (R. 00845, 00671-72, FF 13.) EnviroPak was incorporated as a wholly owned subsidiary of Surgical, and an Organization Agreement for EnviroPak was prepared on September 19, 1991. (R. 00671, FF 13-15.) Diston had no involvement in organizing EnviroPak. (R. 00627-28.) Diston had not even heard of Surgical until Ninow informed him in September of 1991 that Surgical was going to finance the new company. (R. 00597-98, 599.) In September of 1991, Diston's only source of information about Surgical and EnviroPak was Ninow. (R. 00598.)

Ninow became employed with EnviroPak on October 1, 1991, as the president, a director, and chairman of the board of directors. During the period of the negotiations between Surgical and Ninow leading up to the formation of EnviroPak, there was no contact of any kind between Surgical and Diston. (R. 00627-28.) Diston's sole contact was with Ninow. (R. 00598.) No one at EnviroPak or Surgical was aware that Diston was expecting to be employed by EnviroPak (R. 00852, 00670), and no one was aware that Ninow had been discussing employment with Diston. (R. 00672-74,75.)

On September 20, 1991, two weeks prior to his actual employment with EnviroPak, Ninow went to Diston's home where he met with Diston and Rochelle Mills-LaRocca, another employee of Holy Cross Hospital. (FF 25.) Ninow had also been discussing employment with

Ms. Mills-LaRocca. (Mills-LaRocca depo at 12.)² Ninow gave Diston a document titled Letter of Intent to Enter Employment Agreement (letter of intent) (*see* appendix 3) and gave a virtually identical letter to Rochelle Mills-LaRocca. (R. 00803, 00762A, 00601, 00757; Mills-LaRocca depo. at 6-7, 10, 11; appendix 7.)

Ninow did not consult with EnviroPak before giving the letter of intent to Diston. (R. 00758, FF 23.) Ninow also showed Diston parts of the EnviroPak organization agreement (R. 00602), as well as a copy of Ninow's own employment agreement. (R. 00760; Mills-LaRocca depo. at 12, 14.) Ninow's employment agreement provided that he would become employed with EnviroPak as of October 1, 1991 (appendix 4).

Mills-LaRocca met with Ninow and Diston on September 20, 1991, when Ninow brought both letters of intent. (Mills-LaRocca depo. at 10, FF 25.) Ninow's own employment agreement had not been executed (FF 19), and Ninow's employment did not commence until October 1, 1991 (appendix 4.) Although Diston claimed that Ninow displayed the EnviroPak organization agreement at this meeting, Mills-LaRocca stated that she had never seen it. (Mills-LaRocca depo. at 31.)

The letter of intent (appendix 3) states, among other things, that Diston and EnviroPak would enter into an employment agreement on or before October 31, 1991, and that Diston, as an incentive to enter into that agreement, would be provided with unspecified stock options. (R. 00759-60; appendix 3.) No one from EnviroPak had authorized Ninow to hire any employees for the new company despite several attempts by Ninow to do so. (R. 00846-50.)

² The Mills-LaRocca deposition was received by the trial court in its entirety. (R. 00576.) The deposition was apparently misplaced and was not included as part of the record on appeal. Appellants have, therefore, attached as part of the appendix (#8) to this brief the portions of the deposition cited in this brief.

Diston expected that a formal, complete written agreement would be prepared. (R. 00634, FF 28.)

The letter of intent provides in full as follows:

THIS LETTER OF INTENT TO ENTER INTO AN EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (this "Letter of intent") dated September 20, 1991, by and between ENVIROPAK MEDICAL PRODUCTS INC., a corporation organized and existing under the state of Utah (the "Company") and JOHN DISTON ("Employee").

1. INTENT. The Company intends to enter into an employment agreement with Employee on or before October 31, 1991.

2. Term. The initial term of the employment agreement shall be for three years.

3. Compensation.

(a) For all services rendered by Employee, the Company shall pay a salary of \$72,000 per year payable as earned in twenty-four (24) equal semi-monthly payments. All salary shall be subject to withholdings and other applicable taxes. Such salary shall be reviewed annually and shall remain fixed or be increased to the extent deemed appropriate by the board of directors of the Company.

(b) As an incentive compensation, Employee shall participate in the Company's cash incentive compensation pool.

(c) The Company shall provide health and medical insurance to be chosen by the Company for its full time employees.

(d) The Company shall provide Employee a monthly automobile allowance.

(e) The Company shall provide Employee with stock options as incentive to enter into an Employment Agreement with the Company. The Company shall also provide Employee with future stock options as part of the Company incentive program. These options will be determined by the Company at the time of employment.

(f) The Company will pay for actual and reasonable expenses incurred by Employee in connection with the business of the company, including expenses for entertainment, travel and similar items.

(g) The Employee shall be entitled each year to a paid vacation of at least two (2) weeks.

Diston wanted to know what his job title and duties would be. (R 00604.) He was told by Ninow that he would be the vice-president in charge of quality control and production. (R. 00604.) Diston was also told that an employment agreement much like Ninow's would be prepared to reflect Diston's employment with EnviroPak. (R. 00760.) Diston believed he was being hired as a vice president of EnviroPak. (R. 00604.) Diston also believed he might be appointed to the EnviroPak board of directors. (R. 00640.) He acted with the understanding that EnviroPak was going to follow the business plan he and Ninow had prepared. (R. 00652.)

Surgical organized an informational meeting on October 3, 1991 to explain and demonstrate the new product. (R. 00850, 00674A.) Diston attended the meeting at Ninow's invitation. (R. 00674A, 00611.) He was introduced first to Todd Crosland, an officer and director of EnviroPak, as an employee of Holy Cross Hospital where the new product was being used. (R. 00850.) Although he had already received the letter of intent, Diston said nothing to the Surgical or EnviroPak representatives about working for EnviroPak. (R. 00850, 00675.) At the meeting itself, Diston was introduced as a representative of Holy Cross, and he discussed the hospital's ongoing use of the products. (R. 00753, 00674A-75; Mills-LaRocca depo. at 20.) Ninow continued to mention Diston as a potential employee (R. 00675), but never mentioned the letter of intent to anyone. (R. 00680.) Diston gave notice to Holy Cross Hospital on October 9, 1991 that he would be leaving. (FF 31.)

During the middle of October, Surgical held a series of meetings with stockbrokers to discuss the new products and the formation of EnviroPak. (R. 00851, 00678.) Diston was

invited to those meetings by Ninow. (R. 00679.) On each occasion, Diston was introduced as a representative of Holy Cross, a current product user. (R. 00851, 00679, 00637-38.) Diston never said anything to the EnviroPak representatives about employment. (R. 00851, 00679-80, 00635-38.) After one of the meetings, Diston was asked by Rochelle Schutjer, an officer and director of EnviroPak, how Diston was able to attend these meetings and be away from Holy Cross. Diston replied only that he was taking vacation time. (R. 00880.)

At Ninow's request, Mills-LaRocca met with Crosland and Schutjer during the middle of October to negotiate the terms of her employment. (Mills-LaRocca depo. at 21-22.) During the meeting she realized that Ninow did not have the authority to hire employees as he had claimed. (*Id.* at 17, 21.) She realized that the other principals of EnviroPak were not aware of her letter of intent and that her employment terms would not necessarily match what Ninow had put in the letter of intent. She did not even mention the letter during her interview. (*Id.* at 21, 23-26; R. 00676.) All of the terms of her employment were negotiated during that meeting and, although her letter of intent provided otherwise, she did not receive stock options and was given only a one-year employment term. (*Id.* at 23; R. 00677-78; *cf.* appendix 7.)

Mills-LaRocca told Diston that same day that she had met with the principals of EnviroPak and that the terms of her employment differed from the letter of intent. (*Id.* at 25-26.) Diston did not discuss employment with the directors of EnviroPak during October 1991 -- his sole contact continued to be Ninow. (R. 00643.) Diston assumed, but without consulting anyone, that he would be hired based on the letter of intent. (R. 00643.)

During that same period of time, Ninow and the other principals of EnviroPak were discussing potential employment terms with Dick Hollingshead. (R. 00633). Diston was aware of these negotiations and that Hollingshead was unhappy about the terms being proposed. (R. 00632-33.) Although Hollingshead was listed in the business plan and was originally

intended to be part of the new company (R. 00632), he was not hired by EnviroPak. (R. 00633). Rochelle Mills was not listed in the plan, but she was hired. (R. 00677-78; appendix 6.) At the time Diston claims he told Ninow that he accepted the job according to the letter of intent, Diston had not had any conversations with anyone from EnviroPak. (R. 00637.)

The principals of EnviroPak later learned that Ninow had been negotiating employment terms with Diston, as well as others, and that Ninow had been making other unauthorized representations and taking other unauthorized actions on behalf of EnviroPak. (R. 00846-50, 00524.) As a result, Ninow was terminated from EnviroPak in December 1991. (R. 00683-84, 00708, FF 38.) On October 31, 1991, EnviroPak learned of the letter of intent Ninow had given to Diston, and the officers contacted Diston to discuss the situation. (R. 00680-82.) Although the position Diston wanted did not exist (R. 00685, 00712), and Diston did not have the technical experience to manage the EnviroPak plant, (R. 00683), he was offered employment with EnviroPak primarily in the area of sales, at a salary of \$60,000 per year, plus a company car. (R. 00615, 00682-85, 00324, FF 40.)

He declined that offer, claiming that he was entitled to have a job title and to know what duties he was to perform. (R. 00614-16, 00645, FF 40-41.) It was explained to Diston that titles were not essential because the company was so new and that everyone would have to assist in getting the company started. (R. 00615, 00685.) Diston later accepted employment with FHP at \$35,000 per year with no written contract. (R. 00615-16, 00618, 00625, 00646.) EnviroPak remained in business until December of 1992, but then ceased operations because it was losing money. (R. 00678, 00865-66, 00525, FF 43.)

PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

Diston brought this action on April 21, 1992, alleging breach of contract, intentional interference with economic relations (against Surgical), third party beneficiary rights under the EnviroPak Organization Agreement and fraud. (R. 00002-00015.) The trial court granted summary judgment to defendants-appellants as to the third party beneficiary and fraud claims. (R. 00380.) The remainder of the case was tried before the Honorable David E. Roth on July 19 and 20, 1993. The court ruled in plaintiff's favor and awarded damages for breach of contract for the period during which Diston would have been employed with EnviroPak. After considering defendants' objections to plaintiff's proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law, the court entered findings and conclusions on November 16, 1993, and entered judgment in favor of plaintiff on November 18, 1993, in the amount of \$54,834.60, plus pre and post-judgment interest. (R. 531-32.)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT THE LETTER OF INTENT WAS A CONTRACT OF EMPLOYMENT BETWEEN ENVIROPAK AND DISTON

The letter of intent is not an employment contract. It lacks the two fundamental terms of an employment agreement: compensation and duties. Without these terms, which together constitute the mutuality of obligation required for any enforceable agreement, there was never anything more than a notion that a contract might be formed in the future. Diston himself admitted that he expected a written agreement that would include all of the terms of his employment.

In addition, because the letter of intent purports to cover a three-year employment term, it is governed by the statute of frauds. As a result, it must be complete on its face as to all of its essential terms -- in this case compensation and duties -- before it rises to the level of an

enforceable contract. The letter fails that test. It is far too vague, leaving much for future negotiation, for the trial court to have concluded that there was a meeting of the minds of the parties. It is at best an agreement to agree, an offer to negotiate -- or as its title suggests, a letter of intent to make a contract later.

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT NINOW HAD APPARENT AUTHORITY TO EXECUTE THE LETTER OF INTENT ON BEHALF OF ENVIROPAK

Diston relied solely and unreasonably on Ninow in believing that he would be employed by EnviroPak. From the beginning, before he ever gave his termination notice to Holy Cross Hospital, Ninow's representations of authority were suspect. EnviroPak did nothing to support any kind of reliance on Ninow. Diston admits that his sole contact was Ninow. He was thus under a duty to ascertain Ninow's true authority. But Diston had more than a legal duty. He had many clear signals that EnviroPak had no intention of employing him, and definitely not according to the letter of intent.

EnviroPak continually represented Diston as an employee of Holy Cross Hospital, a user of the new product. Diston never asked anyone about employment despite numerous opportunities to do so and numerous circumstances strongly suggesting that he should. The facts of this case throw into question just exactly what Diston was supposedly relying on. It is undisputed that Diston had no contact at all with EnviroPak prior to October 3, and his only contact after that point would have convinced anyone to at least inquire as to Ninow's authority. Instead, Diston did nothing. Because Diston did not ascertain Ninow's true authority, Ninow had no apparent authority to hire Diston.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT THE LETTER OF INTENT WAS A CONTRACT OF EMPLOYMENT BETWEEN ENVIROPAK AND DISTON

"A condition precedent to the enforcement of any contract is that there be a meeting of the minds of the parties, which must be spelled out, either expressly or impliedly, with sufficient definiteness to be enforced." *Valcarce v. Bitters*, 362 P.2d 427, 428 (Utah 1961). *See also Bunnell v. Bills*, 368 P.2d 597, 600 (Utah 1962) ("a contract can be enforced by the courts only if the obligations of the parties are set forth with sufficient definiteness that it can be performed.") Thus, when an essential term of an agreement remains subject to future negotiation, there is at best "a mere expression of a purpose to make a contract in the future . . ." *Davison v. Robins*, 517 P.2d 1026, 1028-29 (Utah 1973).

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