1994

# John Diston v. Enviropak Medical Products Inc., a Utah Corporation, and surgical Technologies Inc., formerly, Oinnacle Envirnomental, Inc., a Delaware Corporation : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

**I. DEFENDANTS HAVE FAILED TO MARSHALL THE EVIDENCE IN SUPPORT OF THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDINGS OF FACT.**

Because the Defendants have failed to marshall the evidence in support of the trial court's findings of fact, the Defendants have not met the necessary standard of review and cannot challenge the trial court's findings of fact and conclusions of law.

**II. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY FOUND THAT MR. DISTON'S EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT CONSTITUTES AN ENFORCEABLE AGREEMENT.**

Mr. Fred Ninow, on behalf of EnviroPak, and pursuant to his discussions with John Diston, prepared an employment agreement for

Mr. Diston's employment with EnviroPak. That agreement, as clarified by the negotiators, provided for a three year employment term, a \$72,000 annual salary, the times of payment, provisions for potential raises, a \$360.00 per month car allowance, participation in the company's health insurance program, two weeks paid vacation and participation in an incentive compensation pool and stock option program. Both Mr. Ninow and Mr. Diston also understood and agreed that Mr. Diston's role at the company would be as director/operations, which included the vice president of quality control and production. Mr. Diston, in reliance on that agreement, terminated his prior employment with Holy Cross Hospital.

The Employment Agreement contains all of the essential elements of Mr. Diston's employment with EnviroPak and constitutes an enforceable agreement. Both Mr. Ninow and Mr. Diston, the parties who negotiated the agreement, have consistently considered the agreement to be clear and enforceable; and Mr. Diston, in reliance on the agreement, terminated his employment with Holy Cross Hospital anticipating his employment with EnviroPak pursuant to the negotiated Employment Agreement. The terms of the employment agreement, the clarification by the parties of the terms not specifically spelled out (such as details of the amount of the car allowance and of the number of shares involved in the stock option) and Mr. Diston's reliance upon and performance under the Employment Agreement eliminate any question of unenforceability under the statute of frauds.

Mr. Ninow negotiated the agreement through the authority given him by the Defendants as president, chief operating executive, director, and chairman of the board of EnviroPak. These agreed-to offices cloak Mr. Ninow with both apparent and actual authority to bind EnviroPak to those agreements, and Mr. Diston reasonably relied upon Mr. Ninow's authority.

**III. THE TRIAL COURT, HAVING FOUND THAT ENVIROPAK WAS THE ALTER-EGO OF SURGICAL, ERRED IN TERMINATING THE DAMAGES AS OF THE DATE ENVIROPAK CEASED BUSINESS.**

The trial court found that Surgical, as the sole shareholder of EnviroPak, failed to observe the separate corporations' structure; provided for EnviroPak to be seriously undercapitalized which made the existence of EnviroPak illusory and trifling; did not observe corporate formalities and separateness; was the sole source of funding for EnviroPak; and retained significant control over EnviroPak. As a result, EnviroPak was merely a hollow shell and an alter-ego of Surgical. The court, having determined the existence of the alter-ego arrangement, though, incorrectly terminated the time for calculation of damages to the date EnviroPak ceased to do business. Since EnviroPak was merely the alter-ego of Surgical, Surgical continues to be liable for EnviroPak's obligations under the Employment Agreement throughout the entire term of the agreement.

**IV. THE TRIAL COURT IMPROPERLY REFUSED TO AWARD THE MONTHLY CAR ALLOWANCE PROVIDED FOR IN THE CONTRACT.**

Mr. Ninow and Mr. Diston agreed that, as part of Mr. Diston's compensation under the Employment Agreement, Mr. Diston would be paid a car allowance of \$360.00 per month. The trial court, though,

incorrectly reading into the contract, wrongfully determined that Mr. Diston, in order to be entitled to the car allowance, was obligated to prove the percentage of time of the use of the car in connection with his employment with EnviroPak.

The court, with no factual basis to make the determination, incorrectly determined as a matter of law that the car allowance required additional evidence and, there being no evidence as to percentage of usage, refused to enforce that allowance.

#### **ARGUMENT**

##### **POINT I**

##### **DEFENDANTS HAVE FAILED TO MARSHALL THE EVIDENCE IN SUPPORT OF THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDINGS OF FACT.**

Defendants must either accept and rely upon the trial court's findings of fact in order to challenge its conclusions of law under the proposed "correction of error" standard of review or they must directly challenge the trial court's findings of fact under the "clearly erroneous" standard of review. In this case, Defendants approach this appeal as a re-trial by presenting the law as they see it and asking this Court to apply that law to their version of the facts. Defendants have presented many facts that are in conflict with the trial court's findings of fact, thereby implicitly challenging the trial court's findings of fact and invoking the "clearly erroneous" standard of review. Defendants cannot prevail on appeal because they cannot satisfy the applicable standard of review.

The well-established condition to challenging findings of fact is a complete marshalling of the evidence concerning the findings in

question. This Court recently summarized this requirement in Robb v. Anderton, 863 P.2d 1322 (Utah App. 1993), as follows:

As a prerequisite to an appellant's attack on findings of fact, appellant must marshall all the evidence in support of the findings and demonstrate "that the evidence, including all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom, is insufficient to support the findings...." Grayson Roper Ltd., v. Finlinson, 782 P.2d 467, 470 (Utah 1989); See also [Reid v. Mutual of Omaha Ins. Co., 776 P.2d 896, 899 (Utah 1989).] The marshaling requirement provides the meaningful and expedient review of facts challenged on appeal. See Wright v. Westside Nursery, 787 P.2d 508, 512 n.2 (Utah App. 1990).

Robb, 863 P.2d at 1328.

Defendants have provided no basis for this Court to overturn the facts upon which the trial court based its conclusions of law. Defendants have not identified the findings of fact that they are challenging. More importantly, they have not marshalled the evidence in support of the trial court's findings. Finally, they have not demonstrated that the marshaled evidence, and the reasonable inferences therefrom, when viewed in the light most favorable to the trial court's findings, is clearly erroneous, *i.e.*, it is against the clear weight of all such evidence and reasonable inferences. See Robb, 863 P.2d at 1327-1328, citing Reid, 776 P.2d at 899-900 and Gillmor v. Gillmor, 745 P.2d 461, 462 (Utah App. 1987), cert. denied, 765 P.2d 1278 (Utah 1988). As a result, the facts as set forth in the court's findings must be affirmed by this Court. See also, Saunders v. Sharp, 806 P.2d 198, 199 (Utah 1991).

Defendants have implicitly challenged at least the following findings of fact upon which the trial court based its conclusions of

law that are the subject of Defendants' appeal: Mr. Diston was to be a member of the new company as Director/Operations (F10,22); the Organization Agreement, the Executive Employment Agreement and the press release made Mr. Ninow director, chairman of the board, president and chief operating executive of EnviroPak, "with all the rights, powers and obligations normally associated with such position" (FF16,20,21); EnviroPak was to have considerable autonomy in operation (FF16); Mr. Diston and Mr. Ninow specified that the agreed-on car allowance would be \$360.00 per month (Ff29); Mr. Diston told Mr. Ninow that he accepted the agreement, that he intended to give notice to Holy Cross Hospital of his termination, and that he relied on the Employment Agreement in terminating his Holy Cross employment (FF30,31); Mr. Diston and Mr. Ninow have always considered the Employment Agreement binding (FF32); Mr. Ninow believed, from the agreements with Surgical and EnviroPak, that he had authority to execute the Employment Agreement (FF24); Mr. Diston reasonably relied on Mr. Ninow's authority (FF33), and Mr. Diston's reliance on the Employment Agreement and his terminating his employment with Holy Cross Hospital were reasonable (FF34); Mr. Diston was not aware of any problems with the agreement until after he gave notice to Holy Cross (FF35); Mr. Diston was not able to get his Holy Cross job back (FF36); Surgical failed to observe separate corporate structure and operation for the two corporations by requiring Mr. Ninow to serve at the pleasure of the board of either corporation, by being the sole source of funding for EnviroPak, by grossly undercapitalizing

EnviroPak, by failing to maintain corporate formalities and separateness, and by creating the potential of inequitable results (FF37); and Mr. Diston reasonably rejected the subsequent proposed "offer" from Surgical and EnviroPak after disputes arose herein (FF40,41).

## **POINT II**

### **THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY FOUND THAT MR. DISTON'S EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT CONSTITUTES AN ENFORCEABLE AGREEMENT.**

#### **A. The Employment Agreement Contains all Essential Elements and is an Enforceable Contract.**

Defendants challenge the Employment Agreement as insufficiently detailed and lacking essential elements to constitute an enforceable agreement. This assertion, though, is contrary to the findings in this case. The Defendants' assertion that the Employment Agreement lacks essential elements and details flies in the face of the trial court's specific conclusion -- after hearing the evidence -- that the Employment Agreement did contain the essential provisions of that employment arrangement and that it was a valid agreement (R526).

It is also significant that the Defendants rejected that agreement before they had even read its terms (R713, 715-17), raises questions regarding Defendants' credibility as they argue against the Employment Agreement's supposed indefiniteness or unenforceability, before they had even read its terms. Regardless, Defendants' position ignores the Court's findings as to the written terms of the agreement itself and, also, the oral understandings and agreements to clarify it and Mr. Diston's reasonable reliance thereon.

Mr. Diston's employment agreement with EnviroPak addressed all the essential elements and economic arrangements required in an employment agreement between parties -- the parties had agreed upon the three-year term of the agreement, the \$72,000 annual salary, the number and times the annual salary would be paid, potential raises, a car allowance, participation in the company's health insurance program, two weeks paid vacation, and participation in an incentive compensation pool and stock option program (FF27). Prior to Mr. Diston's acceptance of his Employment Agreement and his giving notice to Holy Cross Hospital of his termination of that employment, Mr. Diston and Mr. Ninow agreed that the car allowance was to be \$360.00 per month (FF29; R603,647,760). They further agreed that Mr. Diston's participation in the stock option program would be for 25,000 shares of the total 100,000 shares allocated from Surgical to EnviroPak for that purpose (R604,619,761).

With such specificity in the Agreement, as undisputedly testified to the negotiating parties, one may fairly ask what essential elements were not agreed to between the parties.

To determine the nature of an employment contract, courts require that the parties' intent and the totality of the circumstances be considered. Gilmore v. Salt Lake Area Community Action Program, 775 P.2d 940, 943 (Utah App. 1989).

Defendants, alleging that the Employment Agreement is only an agreement to agree, cite Bunnell v. Bills, 368 P.2d 597 (Utah 1962) for the proposition that a contract can be enforced only if the



obligations are set forth with sufficient definiteness in the writing. In Bunnell, it was argued that there was at most, an "agreement to agree" because the terms were not set forth with specificity. However, the Utah Supreme Court said:

[W]hen the receipt is interpreted under the circumstances that existed at the time of its creation, and in light of the conduct and statements of the parties, it is clear that the transfer of Bunnell's property was intended as part of the whole agreement. The fact that part of the performance is that the parties will enter into a contract in the future does not render the original agreement any less binding. (Citations omitted).

Bunnell, 368 P.2d at 600.

Furthermore, it is well settled that an agreement to make a written contract, where the terms are mutually understood and agreed to in all respects, is as binding as a more detailed written agreement would have been were it subsequently accepted.

Anderson v. Board of Trustees, 681 P.2d 1326, 1331 (Wy. 1984). Even if a contract contains a promise to agree, its enforceability depends on the relative importance and severability of the matters left to the future and is a question of degree to be settled by determining whether the terms to be decided in the future are so essential to the bargain that to enforce the promise strictly according to the settled terms would make the arrangement unfair. "Where the matters left for the future are unessential, each party will be forced to accept a reasonable determination ...". Coleman Engineering v. North American Aviation, 420 P.2d 713, 720 (Cal. 1966). See also, Gilbert v. Nampa School Dist. No. 131, 657 P.2d 1 (Idaho 1983).

**B. Both Parties who Negotiated the Employment Agreement Intended, and Consider, the Agreement to be Binding.**

The trial court found, upon consideration of all testimony and evidence, that the parties who negotiated the Employment Agreement intended it to be enforceable and, indeed, continue to consider it to be enforceable and binding (FF32; R616, 634, 643, 761, 773, 803). This case, therefore, differs from the normal dispute wherein one of the actual negotiating parties disputes an agreement's enforceability. Defendants in this case, attempting to overcome the negotiating parties' contrary testimony, take selected portions of that testimony out of context to assert that the negotiating parties really did not mean what they say they meant. Defendants, for example, quote selected testimony referring to the expectation that a subsequent, more formal, form of the agreement would be prepared. In doing so, Defendants ignore the consistent testimony that the Employment Agreement was considered binding and that any subsequent document was not a renegotiation of terms but, rather, would be solely to state the already agreed terms into a more formal form (R634). Defendants ignore the fact that, if Mr. Diston did not consider the agreement enforceable, he would not have quit his existing job with which he was happy (R579). Defendants, quoting selected testimony of Mr. Diston, also ignore Mr. Diston's other testimony:

Q (By Mr. Sabin) What was your attitude, as far as the agreement that you had entered into with Fred Ninow?

A I told -- I made the comment to them at that time that this did not spell out what is in my agreement. This is the agreement that they need to live up to. . . (R616)

Q Now, when Mr. Ninow gave you the letter of intent, and I think you have testified it was some time within a day or two of September 20th; is that right?

A Right.

Q Did you contemplate at that time that there would be a more detailed agreement entered into?

A Uh--yes. I felt with the provisions that were in our original agreement, yes.

Q And so you expected a written agreement at some point in the future?

A Yes. I felt that a little bit more formalized, yes.

Q You testified this morning, I think, that you and Fred discussed it right then that same day that he gave you the letter of intent?

A Well, of course.

Q And you discussed a car allowance and all those things?

A Of course.

Q Why didn't you just write them down on the letter of intent, at that time?

A I felt it was a legal document and I didn't want to scribble on that document. (R634)

Q And did you then make inquiries yourself about whether you would be employed on the terms set forth in your letter of intent?

A No. I assumed that I would be. (R643)

Defendants also ignore Mr. Ninow's similar testimony which is consistent with Mr. Diston's understanding:

Q Was there any other discussion with John concerning the letter of intent?

A Yes. We discussed that it would. I showed him a copy of my employment agreement, and I told him that we would eventually have some type of another document that would be exactly like mine or very similar to mine, with some changes, of course, reflecting the arrangement.

Q Would it have changed the terms of what was in this letter of intent?

A. No. (R760)

**C. The Statute of Frauds Does Not Render the Employment Agreement Unenforceable.**

Defendants argue and, indeed, seem to imply that as a matter of law, that the statute of frauds precludes enforcement of the Employment Agreement. Defendants ignore the pertinent language of the statute of frauds:

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